



.

6

(

t

F

MICROCOPY RESOLUTION TEST CHART NATIONAL HORA



The contents of this report are not to be used for advertising, publication, or promotional purposes. Citation of trade names does not constitute an official indorsement or approval of the use of such commercial products. The findings of this report are not to be construed as an official Department of the Army position, unless so designated by other authorized documents.

¢

DESTROY THIS REPORT WHEN IT IS NO LONGER NEEDED DO NOT RETURN IT TO THE ORIGINATOR

REPORT DOCUMENTAT		READ INSTRUCTIONS
REPORT NUMBER	2. GOVT ACCESSION NO.	3. RECIPIENT'S CATALOG NUMBER
CERL IR-E-200	In H149118	
TITLE (and Subtitie)		5 TYPE OF REPORT & PERIOD COVERED
Diesel Fuel Alternatives for Works Prime Movers	Engines in Civil	INTERIM
		6. PERFORMING ORG. REPORT NUMBER
AUTHOR(a)		8. CONTRACT OR GRANT NUMBER(#)
B. J. Sliwinski E. Corcoran		
PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND AD U.S. Army Construction Engr	DRESS Research Laboratory	10. PROGRAM ELEMENT, PROJECT, TASK AREA & WORK UNIT NUMBERS
P.O. Box 4005 Champaign, IL 61820-1305		CWIS 33252
. CONTROLLING OFFICE NAME AND ADDRES	s	12. REPORT DATE
		September 1984
		69
MONITORING AGENCY NAME & ADDRESS(11	different from Controlling Office)	15. SECURITY CLASS. (of this report)
		UNCLASSIFIED
		15. DECLASSIFICATION/DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE
DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the Report)		1
Approved for public release;	distribution unlimit	red.
Approved for public release; DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abatract of	distribution unlimit	an Report)
Approved for public release; DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the ebetract of the superior of the s	distribution unlimit	an Report)
Approved for public release; - DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abstract of - SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES - Copies are obtainable from t	distribution unlimit entered in Block 20, if different fro he National Technical Springfield, VA 2	am Report) I Information Service 22161
Approved for public release; DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the ebstract of Supplementary notes Copies are obtainable from t KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if neces	distribution unlimit entered in Block 20, if different fro he National Technical Springfield, VA 2 preesy and identify by block number	m Report) I Information Service 22161
Approved for public release; DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obstract of Supplementary notes Copies are obtainable from t KEY WORDS (Continue on revorce eide if neces diesel fuels fuel alternatives	distribution unlimit entered in Block 20, if different fro he National Technical Springfield, VA 2 every and identify by block number	red. m Report) 1 Information Service 22161
Approved for public release; DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the ebstract of Supplementary notes Copies are obtainable from t KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necess diese 1 fuels fuel alternatives	distribution unlimit entered in Block 20, if different fro he National Technical Springfield, VA 2 meety and identify by block number	Ted. Ted. Ted. Information Service 22161
Approved for public release; DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abstract of Supplementary notes Copies are obtainable from t KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse aide If necess diesel fuels fuel alternatives	distribution unlimit entered in Block 20, if different fro he National Technical Springfield, VA 2 every and identify by block number	red. m Report) 1 Information Service 22161
Approved for public release; DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the ebetract of Supplementary notes Copies are obtainable from t KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse eide if neces diese 1 fuels fuel alternatives This is the first phase of Corps of Engineers medium-spe searched to provide a backgro promising alternatives to pet ance-based, with most variable	distribution unlimit entered in Block 20, if different for he National Technical Springfield, VA 2 every and identify by block number, f research to determ ed diesel engines. 7 und in current resear roleum tuel. The cr es compared to a No.	ine fuel alternatives for The literature has been rch aud to identity the most iteria assessed were perform- 2 diesel tuel baseline
Approved for public release; DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abstract of SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES Copies are obtainable from t KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse aide If neces diesel ruels tuel alternatives This is the first phase of Corps of Engineers medium-spe searched to provide a backgro promising alternatives to pet ance-based, with most variable D 100000 1473 EDITION OF 1 NOV 65 IS	distribution unlimit entered in Block 20, if different fro he National Technical Springfield, VA 2 every and identify by block number, f research to determ ed diesel engines. 7 und in current resear roleum tuel. The cr es compared to a No.	ine fuel alternatives for The literature has been rch aud to identity the most iteria assessed were perform- 2 diesel tuel baseline.

UNCLASSIFIED

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE(When Date Entered)

BLOCK 20. (Continued)

r

 \cap

•

•

Results indicate that liquified coal, cetane-improved alcohol, and vegetable oils may be suitable alternatives. However, since much of the data reviewed were based on high-speed engines, additional data on medium-speed engines must be gathered before making final recommendations.

UNCLASSIFIED SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE(When Data Entered)

FOREWORD

This work was performed by the Energy Systems (ES) Division of the U.S. Army Construction Engineering Research Laboratory (USA-CERL) for the Directorate of Civil Works, Office of the Chief of Engineers (OCE), under Project 33252, "Civil Works Investigations and Studies"; Work Unit "Technology to Reduce Petroleum Energy Use in Civil Works."

Mr. Ben J. Sliwinski was the USA-CERL Principal Investigator and Mr. J. Bickley, DAEN-CWO-M, was the OCE Technical Monitor.

3

Mr. R. G. Donaghy is Chief of USA-CERL-ES. COL Paul J. Theuer is Commander and Director of USA-CERL, and Dr. L. R. Shaffer is Technical Director.



CONTENTS

		Page
	DD FORM 1473 FOREWORD LIST OF TABLES AND FICURES	1 3 5
1	INTRODUCTION Background Objective Approach Scope Mode of Technology Transfer	9
2	ALCOHOLS	10
3	COAL	34
4	VEGETABLE OILS	50
5	CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	64
	REFERENCES	65
	DISTRIBUTION	

TABLES

1

R

Number		Page
1	Characteristics of Ignition Improvers	11
2	Ignition Improvers Evaluation	12
3	Summary of Particulate Data	21
4	Volume Composition of Blended Fuels (Volume %)	22
5	Fuel Properties	23
6	Detailed Requirements for Diesel Fuel Oils	24
7	Tests and Limits for No. 2 Diesel Fuel Properties	24
8	Summary of Experimental Results	32
9	Coal/Oil Slurry Specifications	38
10	Comparison of Fuel Analysis Data	43
11	Ignition Delay Time and Knocking Sound With Fuel Mixing and Engine Load	46
12	Ignition Delay Time Improvements With Elevated Temperatures and Preinjection	46
13	Nozzle Orifices Used in Experiment	51
14	Properties of Fuels Used in Experiment	51
15	Fuel Properties of Vegetable Oils	52
16	Composition of the Hybrid Fuels	61
17	Calculated Properties of Fuels	61
18	Engine Performance at Maximum Power	61

FIGURES

1	Full-Load BMEP and BSFC Versus Engine Speed for Diesel and Ethanol/Ignition Improver Fuel	13
2	Relative Exhaust Emissions at Full-Load Operation With Ethanol/Ignition Improver Fuel	14

FIGURES (Cont'd)

Number		Page
3	Thermal Efficiency as a Function of Fumigated Ethanol at 2400 rpm	15
4	Ignition Delay as a Function of Fumigated Ethanol at 2400 rpm	17
5	Comparison of Rate of Pressure Rise for Ethanol and Methanol Fumigants at 2400 rpm	18
6	Nitrous Oxides Emission as a Function of Fumigated Ethanol at 2400 rpm	19
7	Carbon Monoxide Emission as a Function of Fumigated Ethanol at 2400 rpm	20
8	Performance of D4 Blend and D2 at 2000 rpm	26
9	Performance of HVD Blend and D2 at 2000 rpm	28
10	Petroleum Savings With Blended Fuels	31
11	Chemical Analysis of Micronized Coal in Oil, Moisture Free Basis	35
12	Power Production of a Single-Cylinder, 1360-cc Diesel Engine Operating at Full Rack and 1400 rpm on Raw Coal No. 2 Fuel Oil Slurries	36
13	Energy Consumption of a Single-Cylinder, 1360-cc Diesel Engine Operating at a Full Rack and 1400 rpm on Raw CoalNo. 2 Fuel Oil Slurries	36
14	Comparison on Power Basis of Amount of SO _X Compounds in Exhaust of a Single-Cylinder 1360-cc Diesel Engine Operating at Full Rack and 1400 rpm on Raw CoalNo. 2 Fuel Oil Slurries	37
15	Comparison on Power Basis of Amount of Nitrous Oxides in Exhaust of a Single-Cylinder 1360-cc Diesel Engine Operating at Full Rack and 1400 rpm on Raw CoalNo. 2 Fuel Oil Slurries	37
16	Particle Size Distribution of Micronized Coal in Oil (MICO)	39
17	Tests With Coal Oil Slurry	41
18	Tests With Coal/Oil Slurry at Constant Speed = 120 rpm	42
19	COED TestsVariable Load	44

FIGURES (Cont'd)

Number		Page
20	COED Exhaust Gas Emission Measurements	45
21	Experimental Results Obtained With SCR-II at Constant Speed $n = 120$ rpm	47
22	Tests With Coal-Derived Fuels	48
23	Effects of Nozzle and Fuel on Engine Efficiency	54
24	Comparison of Smoke Levels	55
25	Variation of Nitrous Oxides (NO _X) Emission With Different Fuels	56
26	Variation of Hydrocarbon Emission for Different Fuels	58
27	Effect of Temperature on Smoke Output	59
28	Diesel Engine Performance on Diesel and Hybrid Fuels	62

DIESEL FUEL ALTERNATIVES FOR ENGINES IN CIVIL WORKS PRIME MOVERS

1 INTRODUCTION

Background

ń

U. S. Army Corps of Engineers Civil Works activities rely heavily on petroleum as an energy source. To minimize U.S. economic and political vulnerability associated with increased or continued dependence on foreign oil supplies, attention is being focused on fuel alternatives,¹ including alcohols, water/oil emulsions, coal, synfuels from shale and tar sands, vegetable oils, and several combinations of these. Such fuels would be used primarily for medium- to high-speed diesel engines that power Corps dredging, mat laying, and pumping.

Objective

The objective of this work is to identify diesel fuel alternatives to petroleum for powering civil works prime movers. The specific goal of this report was to evaluate selected alternatives based on a literature survey to identify those most suitable for continued study.

Approach

The literature was reviewed for the most current information on diesel fuel alternatives with respect to engine performance indicators such as thermal efficiency, knock, emissions, and wear.

Scope

Data in this evaluation are primarily from tests on high-speed diesel engines and are limited to a discussion of performance. Issues of fuel cost or availability are not addressed.

Mode of Technology Transfer

Upon completion of the final phases of this research, alternative fuel application characteristics and fuel system design guidance will be disseminated through an Engineer Technical Letter.

¹Corps of Engineers Energy Program, Engineer Regulation 11-1-10 (Department of the Army, 15 April 1982).

2 ALCOHOLS

A fuel's ability to ignite quickly in a compression ignition (CI) engine is indicated by its cetane number (CN).* CN has been interpreted as describing the completeness of combustion obtainable, the extent of engine knock or failure, smoke emissions, and cold startability. In a range of 0 to 100, a typical diesel fuel has a cetane number of 53. Although this traditional rating system has been questioned for its applicability to unconventional diesel fuels,² this review will recognize its validity as well as the difficulties associated with it.

Alcohols have a CN of 0 to 15. Because of this poor ignition quality, they cannot be used as the sole fuel in CI engines but must be treated with cetane improvers, dual fueling, emulsification or blending with water or oils, increased ompression ratio (CR), increased inlet air temperature, or other techniques. The focus here is on the first three treatments.

In fuel modification with cetane improvers, nitrates are added to the alcohol and the resulting solution is substituted directly for the original fuel oil. Since cetane ratings are not directly correlated to ignition quality in fuel alternatives, Schaefer and Hardenberg³ measured ignition quality as a function of ignition delay to determine blending ratios.* They defined the minimum improver requirement as the amount that would result in an ignition delay less than or equal to that of diesel fuel. Table 1 gives characteristics of various ignition improvers.⁴ Although not explicitly stated in their report, it is assumed that equal ignition delays for the improved alcohols and diesel fuels resulted in similar levels of audible knock.

Improvers were evaluated in terms of safety, corrosivity, economy, and ease of manufacture (Table 2).⁵ Since that investigation was conducted in Brazil, however, it may not be representative of the situation in the United States, especially in the area of manufacturing. Triethylene glycol dinitrate (TEGDN) and isoamyl nitrate are regarded as the most promising additives. Although kerobrisol BRA (a cyclohexyl nitrate) has an evaluation code equal to

- 4A. J. Schaefer and H. O. Hardenberg, pp 13-14.
- ⁵A. J. Schaefer and H. O. Hardenberg, p 19.

^{*}CN indicates the volume percentage of cetane (CN=100) in a blend of α -methylnaphthalene (CN=0).

²H. O. Hardenberg and E. R. Ehnert, "Ignition Quality Determination Problems with Alternate Fuels for Compression Ignition Engines," <u>Alternate Fuels for</u> <u>Diesel Engines SP-503</u> (Warrendale, PA: Society of Automotive Engineers [SAE], 1981), pp 51-57.

³A. J. Schaefer and H. O. Hardenberg, "Ignition Improvers for Ethanol Fuels," Alternate Fuels SP-480 (Warrendale, PA: SAE, 1981), pp 9-20.

^{*}All tests were conducted on a single-cylinder DI engine with a bore of 97 mm (3.82 in.), a stroke of 128 mm (5.04 in.), and a CR of 17:1.

Table l

Characteristics of Ignition Improvers

	Main Components	4µ* (<u>g</u> /mule)	Content** (2 by wt)	DensIty*** at 20 ⁰ C (kg/L)	Heat Ing Valur (MJ/kg)	Minimun Admixture (2 by vol)	Lover Ho of (MJ/L)	eat Value Fuel (MJ/kg)	Energy Release per Equivalent Nitrate <u>(MJ/equ.)</u>	Oxygen ⁺ Balance (X)
Anticle 1 MAR	Cyclobexyl altrate	145.16	100	1.()94	23.9	10	21.1	25.4	27.9	17.1
officent the	lsopropyl nitrate	105.09	001	1.036	17.2	25	6.91	23.1	8.1	31.6
111	Octyl altrate	175.23	96	0.964	26.1	16	21.4	25.8	24.6	12.2
	Prim. hexyl nttrates	147.18	86	0.983	24.6	12	21.0	25.5	26.2	16.2
Ernslaftrate.		91.07	100	1.108	13.7	>>20				46.2
Butch aftrates		119.12	66	1.026	20.6	20	20.7	24.4	12.0	24.0
estavl aftrate	lsomeric pentyl nitrates	133.15	96	0.996	22.6	16	20.9	25.0	17.4	19.4
2-Ethoxyethyl nitrate		135.12	100	1.118	17.2	10	20.4	24.5	24.6	32.0
NG) (BO		196.12	100	1.385	10.8	5	20.3	24.4	28.9	58.3
DEGDN Tesanstrized	DEGDN; castor oil; ethylene glycol	196.12	64	1.24	15.9	7.8++	20.5	24.4		34.1
TEGDV		240.17	100	1.338	13.2	4	20.5	24.8	46.5	44.4
Kerobrisol BRA	Triethyl ammonium	164.21	85	1.077	20.8	16	20.9	24.6	23.3	0.51

Society Source: A. T. Scharfer and H. O. Mard-mherg, "Ignition Improvers for Ethanol Fuels," <u>Alternate Fuels SP-480</u> (Warrendale, PA: of Automotive Engineers, 1981), pp 13-14.
*Molecular weight of main component only.
*Content of main component in final product.
**Content of final product in final product.
**Xg-un balance of main component; related to the final product only in the case of DECDN desensitized.
*Calculated on the basis of a minimum admixture of DECDN of 5 percent by volume.

Pure ethanol (r For ethanol, the following values apply:

Density (20°C): 0.7893 kg/L Lower heat value: 26.8 MJ/kg (21.1 MJ/L) Azeotrope (4.4% by weight water) Density (20°C): 0.804 kg/L Lower heat value: 25.6 MK/kg (20.6 MJ/L) ٦ م

•

.

. (

(•

ſ

lable 4	ľa	b	l	е	2
---------	----	---	---	---	---

Name	Manufactur- ability	Safety	Corrosive- ness	Economy	Evaluation* Code
Kerobrisol MAR		+	0	-	n.a.
Cetanox-105	-	+	0	-	-1
DII3		+	0	-	n.a.
DII2		+	0	-	n.a.
Ethyl nitrate	++		O	+	п.а.
Butyl nitrate	0	+	0	о	+1
Isoamyl nitrate	+	+	0	++	+4
2-Ethoxyethyl nitrate	++	+	0	0	+3
DEGDN	++		0	++	n.a.
DEGDN desensitized	++	о	0	0	+2
TEGDN	++	0	0	0	+4
Kerobrisol BRA	++	+	-()	(++)	+4 (n.a.)

Ignition Improvers Evaluation

Source: A. J. Schaefer and H. O. Hardenberg, "Ignition Improvers for Ethanol Fuels," Alternate Fuels SP-480 (Warrendale, PA: SAE, 1981), p 19.

"Sum of all evaluation criteria; an evaluation "--" results in the comment "n.a." (not applicable).

- ++ very good
- + good
- o without effect or not ascertainable
- poor

(

-- very poor, cannot be used

the two just mentioned, its very poor corrosive tendencies prohibit its consideration.

Ethanol/DII2 (DII2 is a mixture of primary hexylnitrates) was investigated to test the performance of cetane-improved alcohols in diesel engines.⁶ For these experiments, the fuel injection quantity was adjusted to compensate for the lower heating value of alcohol, and the injection nozzle holes were modified to accommodate a larger fuel flow. Tests showed that diesel and ethanol fuels had very similar performance in terms of brake mean effective pressure (BMEP) and brake specific fuel consumption (BSFC) (Figure 1).⁷ BMEP

⁶A. J. Schaefer and H. O. Hardenberg, p 14. ⁷A. J. Schaefer and H. O. Hardenberg, p 14.



Figure 1. Full-load BMEP and BSFC versus engine speed for diesel and ethanol/ignition improver fuel. (Source: A. J. Schaefer and H. O. Hardenberg, "Ignition Improvers for Ethanol Fuels," <u>Alternate Fuels SP-480</u> [Warrendale, PA: SAE, 1981], p 14.)

is the average pressure on the piston during the power stroke and is derived from measuring the brake horsepower output. BSFC is proportional to the inverse of the overall thermal efficiency and is indicative of the fuel consumption rate (energy input) per rate of energy output.

Emissions from engines with the improved ethanol showed fewer hydrocarbons and nitrous oxides and less black smoke than the diesel-fueled engine under most operating conditions (Figure 2).⁸ Oxides of nitrogen were greater than diesel emissions, while engine speed was below 45 percent capacity, but less than the diesel at faster speeds. This result is contrary to expectations, since the alcohols were improved with nitrates. However, unburned ethanol and aldehydes in the exhaust were not measured.

Alcohol fumigation involves the addition of alcohol to an engine's intake air. In addition, diesel fuel is injected in the normal way to act as a pilot light for the alcohol. Heisey and Lest2⁹ experimented with the alcohol fumigation in a diesel engine with simultaneous diesel fuel injection to monitor effects on thermal efficiency, combustion, smoothness, and emissions.

The experimental engine was a four-cylinder, 4.47-kW (6-Bhp) diesel with a 76.2-mm (3-in.) bore, 77.79-mm (3.0625-in.) stroke, 21.7 CID, 18:1 CR, and a

⁹J. B. Heisey and S. S. Lestz, "Aqueous Alcohol Fumigation of a Single-Cylinder DI Diesel Engine," <u>Alternate Fuels for Diesel Engines SP-503</u> (Tulsa, OK: SAE, 1981), pp 1-14.

 $[\]frac{8}{4}$ J. Schaefer and H. O. Hardenberg, p 15.



Figure 2. Relative exhaust emissions at full-load operation with ethanol/ignition improver fuel. (Source: A. J. Schaefer and H. O. Hardenberg, "Ignition Improvers for Ethanol Fuels," Alternate Fuels SP-480 [Warrendale, PA: SAE, 1981], p 15.)

rated speed of 3000 rpm. With this engine, up to 30 percent of the energy requirement could be substituted with ethanol, with the amount of substitution limited by ignition failure or knock. The amount substituted could be increased, however, as the load setting was increased. The brake thermal efficiency (BTE) of various combinations of ethanol and water was plotted as a function of fumigated ethanol at 2400 rpm (Figure 3).¹⁰ All fuels were tested to their misfire limit.

At large load settings, BTE rose somewhat with increased percentages of alcohol. This increased efficiency is assumed to be due to rapid combustion near top dead center, which approximates a constant-volume process. This nearly constant-volume combustion is closer to an Otto cycle than a diesel cycle and is more efficient for the fixed-compression ratio of the engine hardware. Rapid combustion is promoted by the increased ignition delays and, therefore, the large quantities of vaporized alcohol present at ignition. Pressure rise is greater for this combustion and may be due to the more rapid release of heat and the larger quantity of moles of product formed during alcohol combustion. Also, heat loss may be reduced in this rapid combustion.

At smaller load settings, for example, at 1/3 load, BTE is lower, and less alcohol substitution is permitted before misfire. At this load, less

 10_{J} . B. Heisey and S. S. Lestz, p 5.



Figure 3. Thermal efficiency as a function of fumigated ethanol at 2400 rpm. (Source: J. B. Heisey and S. S. Lestz, "Aqueous Alcohol Fumigation of a Single-Cylinder DI Diesel Engine," <u>Alternate Fuels for Diesel Engines SP-503</u> [Tulsa, OK: SAE, 1981], p 5.)

total heat is released and a proportionately larger amount of this heat is lost. Furthermore, less net heat is available for combustion, and burning quality deteriorates.

The amount of water in the fuel had minimal effects on engine performance, although the increased water percentage in the lower proof fuels did expedite combustion quenching. Duplicate tests with methanol showed similar results at medium and high loads, but slightly decreased performance at low loads.

Ignition delay lengthened with greater additions of alcohol (Figure 4),¹¹ as well as with decreasing alcohol quality (i.e., lower proof). This increased delay led to combustion knocking. Figure 5 shows the region of intense knock.¹² In this interval, combustion noise increased due to lengthy ignition delay, which resulted in cooling of the vaporizing alcohol; rapid combustion of large amounts of vaporized alcohol at ignition also contributed to the noise.

Emissions of nitrous oxides, carbon monoxide, and particulates were monitored in this fumigation experiment. Figures 6 and 7 show the nitrous oxides and carbon monoxide emissions as a function of fumigated ethanol.¹³ In general, nitrous oxides emission increased over baseline conditions at full load, remained fairly stable at 2/3 load, and decreased at light load. These emissions were dependent on water, such that greater water concentrations led to fewer emissions. Carbon monoxide emissions increased with additional alcohol substitution at 1/3 and 2/3 load, but had little change at full load. Since the amount of carbon monoxide emissions indicates completeness of combustion, the high latent heats of vaporization for the alcohol may have required more heat than could be supplied at lower load settings.

Table 3 gives particulate emissions for this fumigation experiment.¹⁴ These data show a general decrease in particulate emissions with increasing alcohol fumigation.

Two concerns not thoroughly analyzed but mentioned in the Heisey and Lestz report are particulate biological activity and engine wear. Limited testing showed increased biological activity of particulates, with potential impact on public health not mentioned. Brief visual and physical measurements of engine components showed no abnormal wear of the combustion chamber and piston.

Shirvani evaluated various mixtures of alcohol and diesel fuel using alcohol blends of No. 4 diesel oil (D4) and heavy virgin distillate (HVD)

¹¹J. B. Heisey and S. S. Lestz, p 6.
¹²J. B. Heisey and S. S. Lestz, p 7.
¹³J. B. Heisey and S. S. Lestz, pp 7-8.
¹⁴J. B. Heisey and S. S. Lestz, p 9.

ſ



Figure 4. Ignition delay as a function of fumigated ethanol at 2400 rpm. (Source: J. B. Heisey and S. S. Lestz, "Aqueous Alcohol Fumigation of a Single-Cylinder Dl Diesel Engine," <u>Alternate Fuels for Diesel Engines SP-503</u> [Tulsa, OK: SAE, 1981], p 6.)



Figure 5. Comparison of rate of pressure rise for ethanol and methanol fumigants at 2400 rpm. (Source: J. B. Heisey and S. S. Lestz, "Aqueous Alcohol Fumigation of a Single-Cylinder D1 Diesel Engine," <u>Alternate Fuels for Diesel Engines SP-503</u> [Tulsa, OK: SAE, 1981] p 7.)



Figure 6. Nitrous oxides emission as a function of fumigated ethanol at 2400 rpm. (Source: J. B. Heisey and S. S. Lestz, "Aqueous Alcohol Fumigation of a Single-Cylinder DI Diesel Engine," <u>Alternate Fuels for Diesel Engines SP-503</u> [Tulsa, OK: SAE, 1981], p 7.)



Figure 7. Carbon monoxide emission as a function of fumigated ethanol at 2400 rpm. (Source: J. B. Heisey and S. S. Lestz, "Aqueous Alcohol Fumigation of a Single-Cylinder D1 Diesel Engine," <u>Alternate Fuels for Diesel Engines SP-503</u> [Tulsa, OK: SAE, 1981], p 8.)

Table 3



Summary of Particulate Data

Crief J. B. Belsev and S. S. Lestz, "Acuebus Alconol Fumigation of a Single-Ozionder Deser Engine," <u>Alternate Fuels for Dieser Engines</u> <u>SP-003</u> (Culsa, OK: SAE, 1981), p. J.

Data on ench block are tabulated as tollows: Total tigl energy input enter = Btulbr encent of that tugl energy input as ethanol arribulate deposition rate = mg/min TOP--norment energy input slope total devices are loss results. TABB, mean of slope totalevices tage bage

•

Ç

similar to SAE No. 2 diesel fuel specifications. The viscous distillates were added in an attempt to upgrade the alcohol fuel. Table 4 gives the composition of experimental blends,¹⁵ and Table 5 lists properties of the blends and their components.¹⁶ These compositions were derived empirically to eliminate mixing and cetane problems while staying within SAE specifications.

Tables 6 and 7 show requirements for diesel fuel oil as suggested by SAE and the American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM)¹⁷ based on viscosity, heating value, mineral content, and pour point. Fuel viscosity indicates resistance to flow, which affects the engine's injection system by resisting division into a spray. Low-viscosity fuels promote lubrication problems and may cause wear. High-viscosity fuels can cause major pump resistance and damage to the filter. Heating value is the fuel flow rate required to produce the desired output and is indicative of the energy potentially available for combustion. Sulfur, ash, water, and sediment contents are minimized to avoid deposits that could abrade engine parts, accelerate corrosion, and block injector systems. Pour point is the lowest fuel temperature at which pumping can continue. This value can be crucial in cold climates. Synthesis of appropriate blends must take these fuel properties into consideration.

6

All tests were run at very high speed (1754 to 2193 rpm) on a four-cylinder, four-stroke, DI diesel with a 96.8-mm (3.81-in.) bore, 104.8-mm (4.13in.) stroke, 16.5:1 CR, and rated at 31 kW (Bhp 41.57). All blends for this

Table 4

Volume Composition of Blended Fuels (Volume %)

Fuel	D2	D4	HVD	Ethanol	Butanol	Cetane Improver
HVD blend	0.0	0.0	75	15	10	0.0
D4 blend w/CI	48.5	4.85	0.0	29.1	14.6	3.0
D4 blend w/o CI	50	5.0	0.0	30	15	0.0

Source: H. Shirvani, et al., Performance of Alcohol Blends in Diesel Engines, SAE Paper 810681 (SAE, 1981).

¹⁵H. Shirvani, <u>Alternate Fuels for Diesel Engines</u>, unpublished master's thesis (University of Illinois, 1982), p 25.

¹⁶H. Shirvani, C. E. Goering, and S. C. Sorenson, <u>Performance of Alcohol</u>
 ¹⁷Blends in Diesel Engines, SAE Paper 810681 (Warrendale, PA: SAE, 1981).
 ¹⁷H. Shirvani, et al.; C. E. Goering, et al., "Fuel Properties of Eleven Vege-

table Oils," <u>Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers</u> (ASAE), Vol 25, No. 6 (1982), p 1473. Table 5

C

1

E

Fuel Properties

Fuel	Visçosíty (mm ² /s)	Specific Gravity	LHV (kJ/kg)	Cetane No.	Sultur (%)	C/H Mass Ratio	Stoichiometric A-F Katio
Ethanol (C ₂ H ₅ CH)	1.17	0.789	26.90*	15**	0.0	4.00	00.6
Butanol (C ₄ H ₉ OH)	2.33	0.810	33.22*	1	0.0	4.80	12.06
Diesel No. 2 (C ₁₆ H _{28.8})	2.15	0.840	42.59***	46.6+	0.22***	6.67%**	14.52
Diesel No. 4 (C ₁₆ H _{25.3})	:	0.913	41.46***	1	0.98***	1.59***	14.10
HVD (C ₁₆ H _{29.45})	4.47	0.852	45.52***	1	0.39***	6.52***	14.48
Primary Alkyl Nitrate (C ₈ N ₁ 0 ₃ H ₁₇)	ł	0.964	29.17	ł	0.0	5.65	9.61
Diesel No. 4 Blend (w/Cetane Improver)	2.00	0.830	36.40	40.8+	0.160	5.66	12.19
Diesel No. 4 Blend (w/o Cetane Improver)	2.04	0.830	36.66	25+	0.167	6.36	12.35
HVD Blend	3.00	0.840	39.42	38+	0.297	6.00	13.49

H. Shirvani, et al., <u>Performance of Alcohol Blends in Diesel Engines</u>, SAE Paper 810681 (SAE, 1981). Source:

Ohert, The Internal Combustion Engine and Air Pollution, 3rd ed. (Harper and Row, 1973). Cheremisinoff, <u>Casohol for Energy Production</u> (Ann Arbor Science, 1979). . . . म र

**N. P.

***C. A. Krawetz, Test Report No. 01215 2-4 trom Phoenix Chemical Lab., Inc., Chicago, 1L (1980).
*W. B. Gross, Cetane Rating Log Sheets from Workshop Engine Div. of Dressler Industries, Waukesha, Wi (1980).

Table 6

Diesel Fuel	Flash Point (°C) Min	Water and Sediment (vol %) Max	Ash Weight (%)	Distil Femper at 90% (*	llation ratures % Point °C)	Kine Visc (mm	matic osity ² /s)	Sulfur Weight (%)	Cetane No.
			Max	Min	Max	Min	Max	Max	Min
No. 1	38	0.05	0.01		288	1.3	2.4	0.50	40
No. 2	52	0.05	0.01	282	388	1.9	4.1	0.5	40
No. 4		0.50	0.10			5.5	24.0	2.0	30

Detailed Requirements for Diesel Fuel Oils

17

Source: H. Shirvani, <u>Alternate Fuels for Diesel Engines</u>, unpublished master's thesis (University of Illinois, 1962).

Table 7

Tests and Limits for No. 2 Diesel Fuel Properties

ASTM Test No.	ASTM Limits
D445	1.9-4.1
D86	282-338 @ 90% pt.
D2500	*
D97	**
D93	52 mín.
D1796	0.05% max.
D524	0.35% max.
D482	0.01% max.
D129	0.5% max.
D130	sterie ste
D613	40 min.
	ASTM Test No. D445 D86 D2500 D97 D93 D1796 D524 D482 D129 D130 D613

Source: C. E. Goering, et al., "Fuel Properties of Eleven Vegetable Oils," <u>Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers</u> (ASAE), Vol 25, No. 6 (1982), p 1473.

*Cloud point is not specified by ASTM. Satisfactory operation should be achieved in most cases if the cloud point is 6°C above the tenth percentile minimum temperature for the area where the fuel will be used.

**Pour point is not specified by ASTM, but generally occurs at 4.4 to 5.5°C below the cloud point (Liljedahl, et al., 1979).

***This test for active sulfur is interpreted by comparison of the immersed strip with standard immersed strips. Corrosion shall not exceed that on a No. 3 standard strip. engine were premixed and injected with the existing fuel injection system, since the engine was not modified. Various engine performance indicators were plotted against the equivalence ratio (ratio of the actual fuel/air ratio to the stoichiometric fuel/air ratio) to compensate for the difference in stoichiometric fuel/air ratios.

Addition of ethanol to No. 2 diesel fuel degrades the fuel by lowering its heat content, viscosity, CN, and stability. Lower heat content reduces power output and increases fuel consumption per unit of work. Figures 8 and 9 show trends in Bhp (see BMEP data) and BSFC.¹⁸ Highest performance was obtained from the blends at 2000 rpm. At the lower speeds (1754 rpm), BMEP and, thus, power output were less than those for the baseline fuel; at mid- and high-range, BMEP and power were equal or slightly higher than the baseline fuel's. Also, power output for all fuels increased with a richer fuel mixture (high equivalence ratio). BMEP was directly proportional to power output in these tests because the speed was held constant.

Although data at varying speeds are not shown, the increase in BSFC was more pronounced at lower speeds. Phase separation was a stability problem with the ethanol and diesel fuel mixture attributed to water contamination or structural ditterences between alcohols and hydrocarbons.

The ethanol blend's lower CN delayed combustion and increased noise. Knocking in a CI engine results from a high rise in combustion chamber pressure. If ignition is delayed too long and the fuel's self-ignition temperature is too high, a comparatively large amount of fuel will be in the cylinder. This heavy fuel concentration can raise the pressure rapidly enough to cause a pressure wave propagation and, thus, knock. Longer ignition delay was detected in the fuel blends compared to baseline fuels, but this condition improved as the equivalence ratio increased.

Thermal efficiency of the ethanol-diesel blend is lower than that of neat (andiluted) diesel fuel at medium and light loads, but is mostly consistent with the diesel efficiency at full load. More complete combustion at high loads is assumed to produce this better efficiency. Experimental results confirmed that BTE closely paralleled the baseline fuel at high speeds; at lower speeds (1745 rpm), the BTE diminished no more than 10 percent.

Positive aspects of burning ethanol diesel blends instead of No. 2 diesel fuel include (1) less smoke and (2) lower exhaust temperature resulting from ethanol's higher heat of vaporization and, thus, the greater energy requirement to vaporize the blend. This larger energy consumption leaves less energy in the exhaust and, hence, a lower exhaust temperature.

¹⁸H. Shirvani, et al.

1

 \mathbf{O}

2.



Figure 8. Performance of D4 blend and D2 at 2000 rpm. (Source: H. Shirvani, et al., <u>Performance of Alcohol Blends in</u> <u>Diesel Engines</u>, SAE Paper 810681 [Warrendale, PA: SAE, 1981]).



Ú

Figure 8 (cont'd).



ſ

Figure 9. Performance of HVD blend and D2 at 2000 rpm. (Source: H. Shirvaní, et al., <u>Performance of Alcohol Blends in</u> <u>Diesel Engines</u>, SAE Paper 810681 [Warrendale, PA: SAE, 1981]).



(3 1

1

ð

Figure 9 (cont'd).

Figure 10 shows the petroleum savings with blended $\leq els^{19}$ expected results if the mixtures were burned with a thermal efficiency equal to the baseline fuel. These results show that the D4 blend can produce a 20 to 37 percent petroleum savings and the HVD blend can produce up to 18 percent savings. The savings depend on engine load and speed.

Butanol-diesel blends are promising alternatives. Miller and Smith²⁰ tound little effect on Bhp with diesel-butanol blends. Butanol can also be mixed in most concentrations without phase separation.

To summarize these data, alcohol fuels tended to require high speeds and high loads for satisfactory performance. Thermal efficiency reached or exceeded diesel results at very high speeds (above 1500 rpm) and medium or heavy loads (2/3 and full loads, respectively) in blending and fumigation tests. At low loads, fumigation techniques could not meet baseline diesel fuel efficiency, nor could alcohol-oil blends at speeds relatively low for the testing range (1754 rpm). Similar BSFC data between cetane-improved alcohol and diesel fuel indicated comparable efficiencies for the two fuels. Speed information to accompany efficiency data was not included in Schaefer and Hardenberg's report on improved alcohol.

Horsepower ratings for alcohol fueling techniques were included only in Shirvani's findings on alcohol blends. These blends increased hp at high speed, produced no change at medium speed, and decreased output at low speed. Although Shirvani categorized these test speeds into high, medium, and low, that entire test range is classified as very high-speed in this report. Results on hp output were not included for cetane-improved alcohol testing, but BMEP data were. BMEP for improved alcohols parallel diesel fuel values and suggested a parallel in Bhp as well.

Knock apparently was no problem in the cetane-improved alcohol fuels. Audible knock was detected during fumigation and blend trials, but was not quantified. Descriptive observations mentioned increased knock with increased alcohol fumigation and with decreased equivalence ratio in alcohol-diesel oil blend runs.

Emission information was recorded to varying degrees for the three technologies. With cetane-improved alcohol and alcohol-oil blends, less black smoke was emitted than with baseline diesel fuels. However, black smoke levels were not monitored during fumigation. Nitrous oxides emission was greater with cetane-improved alcohols than for diesel fuel at less than 45 percent of some unknown speed capacity, but was less than diesel at higher speeds. The nitrous oxide emissions during very-high-speed testing with fumigation revealed fluctuation with load: quantities were higher than for diesel

¹⁹H. Shirvani, et al.

²⁰C. L. Miller and J. L. Smith, "Using Butanol Fuel Blends," ASAE Paper 80-15 24, presented at ASAE Winter Meeting, 2-5 December 1980 (St. Joseph, MI: ASAE, 1980).





(

exhaust at full load, mostly consistent at 2/3 load, and lower at 1/3 load. Improved-alcohol exhaust had lower hydrocarbon concentrations and alcohol-oil blends had lower temperatures. Carbon monoxide emissions during fumigation were higher at light and medium loads, but not increased significantly over baseline diesel fuel emissions at full load. Table 8 summarizes experimental results with the alcohol fuels.*

^{*}Table 8 also summarizes test results from water-oil emulsion fuels. However, since these experiments show no significant fuel savings or emission improvement, no further space is devoted to this discussion.

fuel	Comburston technology	Retrofft	Test engine specifications	BTL or related tactors	'Ner Julput ur related facture	Kaock	Anolasia.	Engline mar	Other
Alcohol w/cetane (aprovers (ethanul/d1:2)	Direct substitute tion tor diese l	in reased fuel Line rate en- larged nozzie Moles	Single cyllider Df engloe, 3.42 burc,5.04 stryke CR-17:1, ou rited speed given	855, vers statlar Go basellise Yo. 2 dissel, 855, 15 proportional, 10 1.815	BMEF very sumthar to baseline Mon 2 dievel, BMLP is provintional to BMV at visitati SMV at visitati	Amesamerd o.c. stor addition of otrates indds to same 10 as ficarl	Less it and black -mover than direct '0' > licect below -0's peed -aper(ty, NO dieeel ? higher Syeeds	ees introduce a second s	udities in reader - at by - true at by - true at an
Alconol'iterel fuel (ethault)	All Abul Tunigaled e stautithunk Jesel fuel th Jeston	Numikation nuzie Aited tot tumi- gant		<pre>41.3 rava BTE loss than dieed and derreases * tharcasking alson that percent, %//3 rava Hesel, # mates diesel, # that rava BTE thr creases above liesel */increased alcohol *.nbwittan tion</pre>	19 19 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	<pre>> : sibet.ruti.m = : sibet.ruti.m = : signted alco- </pre>	Nu divert vat full lord, approx- lad ant divert lad ant divert at 1.5 joid, jower prof al. nad lave divert above divert above divert above divert above divert above divert above divert at above particulates down withor, at, subst.	 If the Structure of the str	
41. John / Alesel Aut : cetan Aut : cetan Aut : yetan / Y. s, 470, ethan / b. censi. Iap r vers /	Blends prest col and ingered and statag (o \$c - tion app.	So ie	4-141,4-61046, 31 e184394, 141 bergetar, strake,GVel9151, strake,GVel9151, rated bhp-411,52 restrand 1 very fish spect (1/54- 2131 rja)	Lover that free at medical ord light londs, sp- proximates diree at tuil loyd	Trewel near Life Fpo. 377 Satawir Lifere Strais Hange Lifer Life and Lueer Clur Lifer Clur Lifer Clur	 reased knicking ver diesel but c) susidered ficularable, knock de reased winn- crossing equiva- tione ratio 	Less amore trun Sou of there of the HC VU nut month tored	1 8 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	uner de la contra
are level tel sailetos	ure : substitu tion 'or diver tuel	, one	12-51,	An employed of A second 2.21 foot A second 2.21 foot seconds in the e- states in reduc- tion 11 foot on sumption could be achtered in the 2- actioned in the 2-	A - 1 B - 1 C - 1	Yot availared	Lower party of same of same of same of same of the sam	ALC MARTINE	Alle vir ser van de la santa d
Diegel fuelfam Hal Birry Hampley of 24, 82,443 roal	Direct substitu- tion for diread fuel	None	1-cyl, 4-stroke, 175 hp.4.57 bure 5.2.2 stroke, 82.99CLD, CR=15:1, rated speud=130U rated speud=130U rated speud	8.V. Increased with increased coal percentage	Coert than diesel with rapid decline wintreased coal percentwge	kot monl:jred	S' And W. higher than diese	Large amounts : wear on ringe. placon, ruinder planos and inge. rion music. deemed int vierar.	
)learl fuel/raw ial glurry	Offect submittu- cion for dievel fuel	'sone	29.92° bore, bl.02° stroke, UR=[0.63:1, 1972-6 bp.rsted speed=128 rpm, All texts performed at L0 rpm, slow speed	BSFC greater than diesel, slurry test- ing increases fuel consumption of future diesel runs	No: #Onktored	ר אופיאר איש איר איר איר איר איר איריאנות איראופי גיריאנות איראופי	Blark serve and N greater than dievol	dravv -c ar - 1. e. Lion nuzzles, - 1. s. Flags	
COED (liquified coal based fuel)	Direct aubattintin For dievel forl	- Yone	29.91" hure, hi.02" atruke, CRel0.63:1, 19/2.6 hp, rated speed testing at 120 fpa	855C paralleled diea.l values with amail auguitude dif- ference	Not monitored	Lu close tu diesel nu knuck problem nuttued. 1D der creased with in- creasing load	Subske emissions cluse to dissel values at invisible level, vo and CC greater than dissel, NC lover than dissel,	Note and the second	rus Trede Alls Fellomman I grun Juced 1950

Table 8

ſ

Table 8 (Cont[†]d)

6

Ī

1 1 1	ທີ່ເປັນ ທີ່ເປັນ ທີ່ເປັນ	Artroff. Fragel Brit	leat engline specifications	aTé vi related factore	Power Jucput Freidige factore	kn - k	- U + V + V	an a	11 here
SR.11 (mulveut refined (ual) a Juix flesei pfint	Sabatitation to dievel tuel a pub diemel injention	added four the or a diese, pilor	24.41 bire, ol 411.42 (K=10.0). 411.23 (K=10.0). 411.13 (K=10.0). 411.42 (K=1	." dyf. lowe to base- i, iire diesel bif yfi higher	Yu: montpured	io knock problem eith diesel privt	V. shure die in	Att - had Fubba Fubba Fubba Fubba Fubba Fubba Fubba	
totostatiotis Netro att	(*) staffup received (*) from the first of the first then such the first stored staffus (*), ver us upgetes (first)	 The standard luber Than and the same set (great in same case (great in same case (great in same same on an same on same on an same that the same same set at the same received in the same receiv	1 cyl, J.747 Bure J.747 Bure J.747 Bure Tated Specials()) d ryd	, Vers IIICLA differ- ii, encobet. soyb-in and divel, soyb-in ally just below diced values for sid- and larger n.v.zles, just above baseller for sualler n.v.zle	<pre>if /i prest output active d' sida nozite and larger nozite act larger uput actived a urput actived a smaller nozite r</pre>	Fuel type did nut affert nutae pro- ducting	dess amare for a defendent of and	an brocht sond inder sond sond sond inder sond sond sond brocht sond sond sond brocht sond sond sond sond sond sond sond	<pre>% testig</pre>
Peanu: vil	Stariup emeluted an Hevel Tuel, englun- tuen walthed to perut oll, warious nucliv tried	The standard toperation outside as the tion outside the addition to addition to addition to a larger and smaller nostly benetits aericult outside a derivative southered at the effort outsides a direct toperation southered sout	l cyl, J. J. C bure, S. 4 Terese, CR.17 Fared Nyrode 2017 Far	Equal 71 of beller of that diend fuel under most operating ondefine	902 of diesel output ann canned wiedd norzie, and mmailer norzie, 1003 hp dei: verod w larger uzzie verod w larger uzzie	Fuel vpe did not steat nuise pro- ductian	fees seach that diesel a s's and en- larged arrier a re- enare that liesel a general, 's' day diesel, 's' approve	Gum depusits found for radbustion chambu for radbustion chambu and "arboo buildor" for stratt for stratt of so were not world ord	<pre>fo feating un poten- r that feating un poten- n sub as asting, str bility, ed microsco- light i risks, inger sizie has frage rea- sectional area rea- sectional area rea- use stilles morth.</pre>
Waste Veget (Nim 311/No. : dtean fuel (21—802 Stead)	tuel bind premuted and substituted for stondarf thel, field tear in school bus	Ann	of be-fill of opties also eito, villa stroke, e. villabore, chellort	Fuel company approx- lately the same ay dieve:	Nu problems il schin- ving demired ourput reported	No 1 A format tool re- ported	Stugar an reasonant search ann an Anna Start ann an Anna Hina ann an Anna Freed	Toterable levels of room building dia not supply operation solution status of solution to functor solution to functor lear biokup	
Hegetable oll' alcuhol 'surbean' ethanol) lonf an nonfonic tried	Alend substituted for diesel tuel, d diesel or ether us- slated ignition re- quired	Blesst of ether start required	3 cvl, 147ClD, rated hp=35.27, rated speed = 2400 rpm	l Silghtly higher than dieael, but BSFC is higher Jue to higher fueling rates	Within 5% of baseline fuel	No increase over divsel noise	And the second second	Aur substants	root stafflity, jom flask point, might not be contreffer toe
3 COAL

The relative abundance of U. S. coal reserves has raised hopes for the possibility of coal-fueled diesels. Most experiments with raw coal have not produced promising results; liquified coal fuels, however, are feasible substitutes but will require substantial refinement.

Marshal, et al., fueled a diesel engine with slurries of No. 2 diesel fuel and raw coal.²¹ The test engine was a single-cylinder, four-stroke, 14.75-hp (11-kW) engine with a 11.43-cm (4.5-in.) bore, 13.34-cm (5.25-in.) stroke, displacement of 1360 cc (82.99 cu in.), 15:1 CR, and 1800-rpm rated speed. Three sample fuels containing 20, 32, and 40 percent by weight coal were examined with particles of average diameter equal to 30 microns (1.2 x 10^{-3} in.). Runs of straight No. 2 diesel fuel were conducted for baseline values; Lower Freeport seam coal was used for the 20 and 40 percent slurries, whereas the 32 percent slurry was made from Pittsburgh seam coal. Figure 11 shows compositions of these coals.²²

Power output, energy consumption, and emissions were monitored during the test. Engine parts were measured before and after testing to determine wear. All fuel types were run through the engine for 10 hr except for the 40 percent blend; trials with that mixture were stopped after 1 hr because of extremely poor performance. For each test, engines were run at full rack and 1400 rpm.

Figures 12 and 13 depict the power output and BSFC of trial slurries and baseline diesel fuel.²³ The power output declined rapidly as higher coal concentrations were used. Moreover, energy consumption increased with increased coal concentration, thus requiring faster fuel flow rates. Mass and energy calculations suggested that coal particles were practically inert. One theory for the poor coal combustion suggests that the diesel fuel ignites first and the coal is left to burn on the expansion stroke with depleted oxygen. These tests were with a high-speed engine, however; slower engines might perform better because they provide more time for combustion.

Figures 14 and 15 show emissions of sulfur and nitrogen oxides, respectively.²⁴ Substantially higher concentrations of these pollutants were detected for the slurries than for the diesel fuel. Emission problems, coupled with increased wear, further dim the prospects for use of coal fuels in the near future. For example, unreasonably high amounts of wear were reported for the rings, piston, and lining. The injection nozzle was lodged open with coal and

 ²¹H. P. Marshal, et al., "Performance of a Diesel Engine Operating on Raw Coal-Diesel Fuel Slurries," <u>Alternate Fuels SP-480</u> (SAE, 1981), pp 59-70.
 ²²H. P. Marshal, et al., p 60.

²³H. P. Marshal, et al., p 62.

²⁴H. P. Marshal, et al., p 65.



Z

0

C

C

Figure 11. Chemical analysis of micronized coal in oil, moisture free basis. (Source: H. P. Marshal, et al., "Performance of a Diesel Engine Operating on Raw Coal-Diesel Fuel Slurries," Alternate Fuels SP-480 [Warrendale, PA: SAE, 1981], p 60.)



Figure 12. Power production of a single-cylinder 1360-cc diesel engine operating at full rack and 1400 rpm on raw coal-No. 2 fuel oil slurries. (Source: H. P. Marshal, et al., "Performance of a Diesel Engine Operating on Raw Coal-Diesel Fuel Slurries," <u>Alternate Fuels SP-480</u> [Warrendale, PA: SAE, 1981], p 62.)



Figure 13. Energy consumption of a single-cylinder 1360-cc diesel engine operating at a tull rack and 1400 rpm on raw coal--No. 2 fuel oil slurries. (Source: H. P. Marshal, et al., "Performance of a Diesel Engine Operating on Raw Coal-Diesel Fuel Slurries," <u>Alternate Fuels SP-480</u> [Warrendale, PA: SAE, 1981], p 62.)



О

Figure 14. Comparison on power basis of amount of SO_X compounds in exhaust of a single-cylinder, 1360-cc diesel engine operating at full rack and 1400 rpm on raw coal--No. 2 fuel oil slurries. (Source: H. P. Marshal, et al., "Performance of a Diesel Engine Operating on Raw Coal-Diesel Fuel Slurries," Alternate Fuels SP-480 [Warrendale, PA: SAE, 1981], p 65.)



Figure 15. Comparison on power basis of amount of nitrous oxides in exhaust of a single-cylinder, 1360-cc diesel engine operating at tull rack and 1400 rpm on raw coal--No. 2 fuel oil slurries. (Source: H. P. Marshal, et al., "Performance of a Diesel Engine Operating on Raw Coal-Diesel Fuel Slurries," Alternate Fuels SP-480 [Warrendale, PA: SAE, 1981], p 65.)

5.3

a thorough coating of coal was discovered over the combustion chamber with the high-concentration slurries.

Dunlay, et al., burned diesel oil-coal slurries in a large, slow-speed engine_with somewhat better results.²⁵ Table 9 shows the composition of their blend,²⁶ and Figure 16 gives specifics on coal particle sizes.²⁷ This fuel was tested in an engine with a 760-mm (29.92-in.) bore, 1550-mm (61.02-in.) stroke, 10.63:1 CR, 120-rpm rated speed, and 1471 kW (1972.6 hp).

Fuel could not be injected successfully with the standard Bosch-type injection system. Pump seizure and blockage of the pump plunger and valve stem

Table 9

Ultimate	Coal		Coal/Oil
Analysis	(As	Diesel Oil	Slurry
(%)	Received)*	No. 2	(As Used)**
Lecithin	-	-	1.42
Moisture	1.6	_	0.50
Hydrogen	4.4	13.3	10.30
Carbon	79.8	85.9	82.76
Nitrogen	1.4	0.02	0.46
Oxygen	3.3	-	1.04
Sulfur	1.0	0.78	0.84
Ash	8.5	-	2.68
Heating Value			
(Btu/lb)			
нну	14,013	19,410	17.432
LHV	13,585	18,258	16.524

Coal/Oil Slurry Specifications

J. B. Dunlay, et al., Performance Tests of a Slow Speed, Two-Stroke Source: Diesel Engine Using Coal-Based Fuels, NTIS TE7905-267-80, Contract No. EF-77-C-01-2647 (U.S. Department of Energy, June 1980), p 34.

*Coal type was Lower Freeport Pennsylvania Seam. **Slurry was prepared by Union Process, Inc., Akron, OH. Content by weight was: 67.03% diesel oil, 35.55% coal, and 1.42% lecithin.

²⁵J. B. Dunlay, et al., <u>Performance Tests of a Slow Speed</u>, <u>Two-Stroke Diesel</u> Engine Using Coal-Based Fuels, NTIS TE7905-267-80, Contract No. EF-77-C-01-2647 (U.S. Department of Energy, June 1980). 26_J. B. Dunlay, et al., p 34. ²⁷J. B. Dunlay, et al., p 35.

Ú



a

Figure 16. Particle size distribution of micronized coal in oil (MICO). (Source: J. B. Dunlay, et al., <u>Performance Tests of Slow</u> <u>Speed, Two-Stroke Diesel Engine Using Coal-Based Fuels</u>, NTIS TE7905-267-80, Contract No. EF-11-C-01-2647 [U.S. Department of Energy, June 1980], p 35.)

necessitated a replacement injection system. The substituted accumulator injection system performed satisfactorily. In this setup, a diaphragm pump sends fuel to an accumulator, where it is later metered by a hydraulically operated injection value.

Although unhampered engine startup and shutdown on coal/oil slurry were demonstrated during the experiment, data taken before and after slurry tests on diesel fuel revealed performance deterioration as evidenced by the diesel fuel's increased BSFC. The slurry caused heavy wear on the injection nozzles and wear and binding on piston rings. Lubrication scouring of the cylinder liner was predicted to cause future problems.

Even with hourly changes of the injection nozzle, the diesel fuel heat rate increased. Therefore, ring condition was considered the major factor in increased fuel consumption. The diesel fuel heat rate after the slurry test was up 2.5 to 4.6 percent of preslurry test values.

Figures 17 and 18 show experimental results of slurry and diesel runs.²⁸ BSFC, black smoke, and nitrous oxides emission for slurry tests was greater than for diesel runs. Ignition lag was also greater, but no knocking was reported. Dunlay's group did not suspect unreasonably delayed or incomplete combustion as seen in the high-speed slurry test.

Dunlay, et al., also investigated fuels derived from liquified coal, including char oil energy development (COED) fuel and solvent refined coal (SRC-11) typel. Table 10 gives fuel analyses and compares them with diesel typel. The same engine used in the diesel/coal slurry experiment was used.

Bertermance indicators such as BSFC, smoke emissions, and ignition lag were monified with variable engine loads, while timing, injection pressure, and air invasure remained constant. COED fuel paralleled baseline diesel is used to these parameters (Figure 19).³⁰ BSFC decreased with increasing addition of COED and baseline diesel. Smoke emissions remained at a fairly intact control COED and baseline diesel. Smoke emissions remained at a fairly intact control level throughout testing. Ignition lag decreased with inmagnetize of therefore of the values were very slight. Knocking was not a trade of therefore of the values were very slight. Knocking was not a trade parallel to diesel with variable injection timing, injection pressure, and air pressure.

ſ

^{28.} B. Dunlay, et al., pp 41-42.

²⁹J. B. Dunlay, et al., p 22.

³⁰J. B. Dunlay, et al., p 16.



1

E

Figure 17. Tests with coal oil slurry. (Source: J. B. Dunlay, et al., <u>Performance Tests of Slow Speed, Two-Stroke Diesel Engine</u> <u>Using Coal-Based Fuels</u>, NTIS TE7905-267-80, Contract No. <u>EF-11-C-01-2647</u> [U.S. Department of Energy, June 1980], p 41.)



Figure 18. Tests with coal/oil slurry at constant speed = 120 rpm. (Source: J. B. Dunlay, et al., <u>Performance Tests of Slow</u> <u>Speed, Two-Stroke Diesel Engine Using Coal-Based Fuels</u>, NTIS TE7905-267-80, Contract No. EF-11-C-01-2647 [U.S. Department of Energy, June 1980], p 42.)

Figure 20 shows emissions from the COED normalized to emissions of diesel fuel at full load.³¹ Nitrous oxides and carbon monoxide emissions were greater for COED, but hydrocarbon emissions were lower than for diesel exhaust. Overall, COED fuel imitated diesel performance reasonably well without engine modification. Refinement costs to produce COED from coal were considered economically prohibitive in an earlier report by Dunlay,³² with COED's high hydrogen content cited as a major expense.

SRC-II fuel has a very low CN of 0.8. Trial runs with this fuel produced severe knocking due to poor ignition quality. Various methods of improving combustion were attempted, such as blending with diesel oil, elevating air and cooling temperatures, preinjecting SRC-II, and pilot injecting with diesel oil. Combustion performance with the diesel pilot was superior to other alternatives.

Although mixtures of SRC-II and diesel oil produced satisfactory levels of knock with an 80 percent SRC-II/20 percent diesel oil blend running at full

³¹J. B. Dunlay, et al., p 21.

³²J. B. Dunlay, et al., Economic and Technological Assessment of Diesel Engines Using Coal-Based Fuels for Electric Power Generation, NTIS TE4234-37-80 (U. S. Department of Energy, September 1979).

Table 10

Comparison of Fuel Analysis Data

		Fuel	
	<u>SRC-II</u> Sample No.	Diesel Fuel Sample No.	COED Sample No.
Analysis	12082	12094	12041
	Dec 78		Dec 77
Specific gravity at 20°C (e/cm^3)	0.975	0.842	0.935
Viscosity at 20°C (cSt)	5.41	5.55	
Viscosity at 40°C	3.01	2.81/50°	6.78/50°
Refractive index at 20°C	1.5450	-	1.529
Pour point (°C)	- 30	-	+21
Flash point in closed cup (°C)	75	82	49
Caloric value (upper) (kJ/kg)	40153	45140	43482
Caloric value (lower) (kJ/kg)	38227	42460	40890
Content of:			
- Carbon (%)	86.7	85.9	88.9
- Hydrogen (%)	8.95	13.3	10.5
- Sulfur (%)	0.21	0.78	0.13
- Oxygen and nitrogen (%)	4.14	0.02	0.47
- Ash (ppm)	10	80	20
- Water (%)	0.1		<0.1
- Paraffins, naphthenes, aromatics (%)	-	-	39.8/25.8/34
Ratio - Hydrogen:carbon	1.229	1.8434	1.407
Conradson carbon residue (%)	0.02	0.04	0.64
Aniline point (°C)	<-15	72	50
Total acid number (mgKOH/g)	0.11	-	-
Diesel index	0.7	58	23
Cetane number	0.8	54	30
Boiling analysis at atmospheric			
pressure (°C)			
Initial boiling point	158	204	117
5 Vol. % boiling up to	195	-	130
10 Vol. % boiling up to	202	235	= 202
20 Vol. % boiling up to	208	100	-250
30 Vol. % boiling up to	213	.'0.	111
40 Vol. % boiling up to	218	2.40	1
50 Vol. % boiling up to	274	. 5.)	
50 Vol. % boiling up to	231	240	103
70 Vol. 1, 501/10, 7p to	195	302	590
$SU = v_0 (1 + v_0) + 1 (1 + v_0) + 1 (1 + v_0) = 0$	J 2 1		-
90 Vol. 5 borling as to	25	3 (b	-
Up to 350°C are distilled (ver %)	14) 14)	94.5	7.4

e

.4

Source: J. d. Dudly, ar., Pertormance the state Scoverser, 2007-507-60 Diese, Sogine Using Contraryon Stell, 1015 067905-257-80, Contract No. EF-17-C-01-2547 (U.S. Department of Shergy, June 1980), p.34.



Figure 19. COED tests--Variable load. (Source: J. B. Dunlay, et al., <u>Performance Tests of Slow Speed, Two-Stroke Diesel Engine</u> <u>Using Coal-Based Fuels</u>, NTIS TE7905-267-80, Contract No. <u>EF-11-C-01-2647 [U.S. Department of Energy</u>, June 1980], p 16.)

load, lower load settings intensified the knock to intolerable levels. Lesser concentrations of diesel oil had the same effect (Table 11).³³ Through trial and error, optimal ignition delay periods for this engine were set at 2.5 and 3.0 ms. It was noted that faster engines would need shorter delays for smooth combustion and would thus require more diesel oil in the mixture.

Experiments with elevated temperatures were conducted with a blend of 10 percent diesel oil and a 75 percent load. Increasing air, fuel, and coolant temperatures did not lower ignition delay times to an acceptable level. Table 12 shows the resulting delay periods.³⁴ Full-load trials at elevated temperatures were not attempted.

Varied conditions when preinjecting a small amount of SRC-II led to similar disappointment. The shortest delay achieved still produced significant knocking.

Injecting a small amount of diesel oil to pilot SRC-II combustion produced quality (low-knock) burning at all load settings. On average, 3.5 percent

³³J. B. Dunlay, et al., 1979, p 25.
³⁴J. B. Dunlay, et al., 1979, p 26.

7

NO x (as NO2) % 110 % 100 90 Engine: IRSA76 Power: I470 kW/cyl. 80 Speed: I20 rpm Nozzle: 125° x 12 x 0,65 R Date: 15.-17. March 1978 CO % 150 % 100 50 COED Oil **Diesel Oil** 0 HC % 150 % 100 50 100 % 25 50 75 Load Figure 20. COED exhaust gas emission measurements. (Source: J. B. Dunlay, et al., <u>Performance Tests of Slow Speed</u>, <u>Two-Stroke</u> <u>Diesel Engine Using Coal-Based Fuels</u>, NTIS TE7905-267-80,

ſ

Diesel Engine Using Coal-Based Fuels, NTIS TE7905-267-80, Contract No. EF-11-C-01-2647 [U.S. Department of Energy, June 1980], p 21.)

Table 11

Ignition Delay Time and Knocking Sound With Fuel Mixing and Engine Load (Room Temperature Fuel)

Engine Load (%)	Diesel Oil Content (%)	Ignition Delay (ms)	Knocking Sound
90	100	0.8	Normal
	20	2.6	Normal
	10	4.3	Hard
	7	6.2	Very hard
75	10	8.7	Extremely hard

 \mathbf{C}

è

1

ſ

Source: J. B. Dunlay, et al., <u>Performance Tests of a Slow Speed, Two-Stroke</u> Diesel Engine Using Coal-Based Fuels, NTIS TE7905-267-80, Contract No. EF-77-C-01-2647 (U.S. Department of Energy, June 1980), p 34.

Table 12

Ignition Delay Time Improvements With Elevated Temperatures and Preinjection (10% Diesel Oil, 75% Load)

Test Condition	Ignition Delay (ms)
Normal	
Air temp. 40°C	
Cylinder cooling temp. 48/62°C (in/out) Piston cooling temp. 36/45°C (in/out)	8.7
Fuel temp. 25°C	
Air temp. increased to 70°C	5.8
Cylinder cooling temp. increased to 63/75°C (in/out) Piston cooling temp. increased to 47/60°C (in/out)	5.5
Fuel temp, increased to 50°C (injection timing changed)	8.95
135°C	4.0
165°C	3.5
195°C	3.5
Preinjection	4 2

of the total fuel injection was found to be an adequate fraction of pilot diesel oil, resulting in BSFC and smoke values quite close to those of baseline diesel fuel (Figure 21).³⁵ BSFC was slightly higher than for diesel fuel at all loads, but not unreasonably so. Ignition lag was up to 1.5 ms higher, but still within accepted limits. Piloted SRC-II showed continued increases in nitrous oxide exhaust, whereas diesel fuel output leveled off near 70 percent load and decreased slightly at tull load (Figure 22).³⁶ The greatest separation of values occurred at 100 percent load; here, data differed by 5 g/kWh (8.22 x $i0^{-3}$ lbm/hp-hr).

Even with the noted deviations of SRC-II from diesel oil standards, quite acceptable performance was demonstrated in a slow-speed diesel. Emission standards and reinforcement cost would need to be reviewed before large-scale use of this fuel, however. Also, SRC-II attacks rubber hoses and O-rings, a tendency that may prevent long-term runs or necessitate retrofits with different material rings and hoses.

To summarize, solid coal slurries and solvent-refined coal are not up to par with expectations for fuel alternatives. Slurries caused wear problems at all loads and speeds, and combustion performance deteriorated substantially from diesel baselines. Injection and pumping problems required special attention.





Figure 21. Experimental results obtained with SCR-11 at constant speed n = 120 rpm. (Source: J. B. Dunlay, et al., <u>Performance</u> <u>Tests of Slow Speed, Two-Stroke Diesel Engine Using Coal-Based</u> <u>Fuels, NTIS TE7905-267-80, Contract No. EF-11-C-01-2647 [U.S.</u> <u>Department of Energy, June 1980], p 29.)</u>

³⁵J. B. Dunlay, et al., 1979, p 29.
³⁶J. B. Dunlay, et al., 1979, p 31.



ζ

Figure 22. Tests with coal-derived fuels. (Source: J. B. Dunlay, et al., <u>Performance Tests of Slow Speed, Two-Stroke Diesel Engine Using</u> <u>Coal-Based Fuels</u>, NTIS TE7905-267-80, Contract No. EF-11-C-01-2647 [U.S. Department of Energy, June 1980], p 31.)

SRC-11 was tar superior to slurry trials, but not as promising as COED. Although SRC-11 performed similarly to diesel fuel in terms of combustion, it did require pilot injection and monitoring for corrosion on rubber hoses and rings.

1

Of the coal fuels, COED is the most feasible substitute. COED performed similarly to diesel fuel with regard to BSFC, smoke emissions, and ignition delay. Knocking was not a problem at any load. Nitrous oxides and carbon monoxide emissions were above those of diesel exhaust, though, and a review of ambient air laws would be in order before using this fuel. It must be noted that COED was tested with a slow-speed diesel (120 rpm); faster engines may not perform as well. Table 8 summarizes experimental results from the coal fuels.

4 VEGETABLE OILS

C

Vegetable oils are a renewable source of fuel, with peanut and soybean oils especially popular due to demestic availability. Their use in diesel engines has long been investigated. In 1900, Dr. Rudolph Diesel powered one of his engines with peanut oil at the Paris Exposition. Since then, numerous attempts have been made to idapt the diesel engine to attain satisfactory combustion with vegetable oils. Single fueling with vegetable oils has been tried with varying results. Some other fuel usually is introduced to assist in ignition; it may then be replaced by the vegetable oil or may be present during all combustion via a dual injection system or premixing.

Trials with single fueling by vegetable oil following a diesel fuel start have been quite encouraging, excert where power output is of prime importance. Since these oils have a lower energy content than diesel fuel, equal fuel flow rates will yield a lower power output unless the engine is modified. For example, redesigned injection equipment or modified injection sprays could produce the desired results.

Forgiel and Varde investigated fueling the direct injection diesel engine with vegetable oils using various injection nozzles.³⁷ They evaluated engine performance in terms of power output, brake thermal efficiency, and emissions, and monitored the changes in these parameters with different nozzles. All tests were conducted on a one-cylinder, naturally aspirated, air-cooled engine with a 95-mm (3.74-in.) bore, 95-mm (3.74-in.) stroke, 17:1 CR, and a rated speed of 2800 rpm. The naturally aspirated engine was chosen for itr increased ignition delay and sensitivity to fuel quality.

Three different nozzles were used in the experiment--the standard injector with four prifices, nozzle 8, and two other nozzles, A and C, with approximitely 25 percent more and 24 percent less cross sectional area, respectively (Table 13).

The fuels used were No. 2 freed, 100 percent by measured sorbean oil, and 100 percent peaker oils. Table: 14 and 15 give properties of these fuels and other vegetable oils.³⁹ All been measure taken during steady-state conditions. Starts were excluded with these fuel and then be enclose was switched to the experimental fuel; if was explored back to No. 2 diese before shutdown. At no time was the engine allowed to sit while there with regetable oil, which indestepted many petential problems such as waxing, i for range stability, and mer problems allowed.

 ³⁷R. Forgiel and K. S. Varde, "Extrimental Investigation of Vegetable vision Officiation in a Direct Inject in Diesel Engine," <u>Alternate Fuers for Starting</u> Engines SP-503 (Warrendale, : SAE, 1981), pp 59-66.
 ³⁸R. Forgiel and K. S. Varde, p 60.
 ³⁹R. Forgiel and K. S. Varde, p 60; C. E. Goering, et al., p 1475.

1.1.1

Ta	ь1	e	1	3

Nozzle Orifices Used in Experiment

	Nozzle A	Nozzle B (OEM)	Nozzle C
No. of orifices	4	4	5
Orifice diameter (mm)	0.36	0.32	0.25
1/d	1.9	2.3	2.8

5

Source: R. Forgiel and K. S. Varde, "Experimental Investigation of Vegetable Oils Utilization in a Direct Injection Diesel Engine," <u>Alternate</u> <u>Fuels for Diesel Engines SP-503</u> (Warrendale, PA: SAE, 1981), p 60.

Table 14

Properties of Fuels Used in Experiment

	Diesel #2	Soybean	Peanut
Density (g/cc)	.825	.899	.900
Heating value (kJ/kg)	42580	37064	37282
Viscosity @ 24°C (CS) @ 43°C (CS)	2.8 1.8	39 10.5	40.5 15.0
Cetane no.	46	33	35
Heat of vaporization (cal/g)	61	52	53
Flash point (°C)	60	332	326
Spec. heat @ 38.6°C (cal/g °C)	0.44	0.469	0.490
Surface tension (dynes/cm @ 20°C)	28	33	35

Source: R. Forgiel and K. S. Varde, "Experimental Investigation of Vegetable Oils Utilization in a Direct Injection Diesel Engine," <u>Alternate</u> <u>Fuels for Diesel Engines SP-503</u> (Warrendale, PA: SAE, 1981), p 60.

Table 15

e

a

Fuel Properties of Vegetable Oils

қ. тарі. 11	₹15rgstty* (88°'s)	Cotane Numbor**	Hg (kJ(kg) (⁰ C)	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Cloud} \\ \text{PoInt} \\ (^{\circ}\text{C}) \end{array}$	Pour Polnt (⁰ C)	Point (⁰ C)	(kg/L)	water and Sediment (2V)	Residue (Xv)	Asn (%)	(% %)	copper Corroston	Perfod (hr)
	747	•	37274	anon	-31.7	260	0.9537	trace	0.22	<0 . 01	0.01	la	0°26
	94.9	3.5	39500	- 1.1	-40.0	277	0.9095	trace	0.24	10.0	0.01	la	9.3
r tangeed	33.5	۲۱.۲	39468	1.7	-15.0	234	0.9148	0.04	0.24	0.01	0.01	la	7.3
	53.6	44.6	40482	10.01	-12.2	274	0.9044	9.2	0.23	0.05	0.01	la	9.9
neord	27.2	0.21	39307	1.7	-15.0	241	0.9236	trace	0.22	<0.01	0.01	la	2.9
10.00	39.6	41.8	39.32	12.9	- 6.7	271	0.9026	trace	0.24	0.005	0.01	la	6.4
	37.0	17.6	39709	- 3.9	-31.7	246	0.9115	trace	0.3.0	0.054	0.01	lа	19.9
ifflower	31.3	1.12	39519	18.3	- 6.7	260	0.9144	trace	0.25	0.006	0.01	la	3.1
n. Safflower	41.2	1.04	39516	-12.2	-20.6	293	0.9021	trace	0.24	<0.001	0.02	la	9.8
	35.5	10.07	67868	- 3.9	- 9.4	260	0.9133	trace	0.25	10.0>	10.0	la	8.7
se hiensi	32.6	r.1(39623	- 3.9	-12.2	254	0.9138	trace	0.27	(0.0)	10.01	la	7.4
inf lower	11.9	1.1	39575	7.2	-15.0	274	0.9161	tr ace	٦.23	10°0>	10.0	lа	۶.4
epteal No. 2 Atearl	2.1	47	45343	-15.0	-33.0	52	0.8400	<0.05	20.35	10.05	<0.01	•	>150

Sour ef C. E. Goering, et al., "Fuel Properties - Eleven Vegetable Olis," <u>Transactions of the</u> • Newserred at 38.°C. • Measured using i modified form of ASTM D613 in which ignition delays were observed visually.

١.

Performance of the No. 2 diesel fuel with nozzle B was used as the baseline value, with 100 percent load defined as the maximum load at 2800 rpm. Power output was affected by the nozzle and the fuel. The smaller than standard nozzle, C, could produce 100 percent of the baseline power when fueled with No. 2 diesel. With the more viscous soybean oil, this smaller nozzle delivered 80 percent, and with the most viscous peanut oil, 90 percent baseline power was achieved.

The larger than standard nozzle, A, delivered up to 110 percent baseline power with diesel fuel. This setup yielded 100 percent power with both soybean and peanut oils. The higher mass flow rate accommodated by this nozzle is thought to account for the high power output. The standard nozzle, B, reached 100 percent power with soybean oil but only 90 percent with peanut oil.

For power output, the enlarged nozzle performed best. However, the standard nozzle lost only 10 percent of its maximal power output with the peanut oil and none with the soybean oil. This 10 percent loss may be justified to avoid retrofit costs.

BTE was plotted against the load in Figure 23.40 Under most conditions, the standard equipment nozzle, B, produced the highest efficiency. Little difference was noted between the fuels except when peanut oil was run through nozzle A; here, a measurable increase in BTE was noted. Peanut oil achieved an efficiency equal to or slightly greater than diesel fuel under most operating conditions.

Although the kinetics of smoke formation are not well understood, this property has been correlated with atomization. Greater atomization yields smaller droplet size and tends to reduce smoke production. Since orifice size affects the droplet size, the largest nozzle, A, is predicted to have the greatest amount of smoke formation; nozzle C, the smallest, should have the least. These, in fact, are the effects shown in Figure 24.⁴¹ The standard and the enlarged nozzles produced less smoke with vegetable oils than with diesel fuel. Peanut oil produced the least smoke. For the smallest nozzle, the diesel performed better than the vegetable oils, with peanut oil still producing less smoke than soybean oil. The reason for this inversion in the smallest nozzle is not understood.

Nitrogen oxide emissions are dependent on local mixture concentrations and temperatures, both of which are affected by orifice size. Figure 25 summanizes the nitrogen emissions, revealing that the largest nonzle produced the lowest emissions, whereas the standard nozzle produced the highest concentration of exhaust oxides.⁴² Apparently, nitrous oxides production

 40_{P} . Forgiel and K. S. Varde, p 61. 41_R. Forgiel and K. S. Varde, p 62. 42_R. Forgiel and K. S. Varde, p 64.

Ū



Ę

C

Figure 23. Effects of nozzle and fuel on engine efficiency. (Source: R. Forgiel and K. S. Varde, "Experimental Investigation of Vegetable Oils Utilization in a Direct Injection Diesel Engine," Alternative Fuels for Diesel Engines SP-503 [Warrendale, PA: SAE, 1981], p 61.



Figure 24. Comparison of smoke levels (Source: R. Forgiel and K. S. Varde. "Experimental Investigation of Vegetable Oils Utilization in a Direct Injection Diesel Engine," <u>Alternative Fuels</u> for Diesel Engines SP-503 [Warrendale, PA: SAE, 1981], p 62.)



Figure 25. Variation of nitrous oxides (NO_X) emission with different fuels. (Source: R. Forgiel and K. S. Varde, "Experimental Investigation of Vegetable Oils Utilization in a Direct Injection Diesel Engine," <u>Alternative Fuels for Diesel Engines</u> <u>SP-503</u> [Warrendale, PA: <u>SAE</u>, 1981], p 64.)

increases with an initial decrease in nozzle size, then decreases with further size reduction.

In general, soybean oil produced the fewest nitrous oxides emissions over the widest range with all nozzles. Peanut oil tended to be in the middle for nitrogen production and diesel was at the top. Little sensitivity to fuel type was detected in the standard and small nozzles. The larger nozzle distributed nitrogen exhaust with the various fuels more than the others. Nitrous oxides emission increased for all fuel types as load increased. For all nozzles and fuels, highest emissions occurred during the most thermally efficient periods.

Hydrocarbon concentrations are graphed against percentage load in Figure 26. Peanut oil emitted the fewest hydrocarbons, whereas diesel and soybean were the top producers, depending on nozzle size. 43

Noise production and carbon and gum deposits also were checked during testing. For a given nozzle, fuel type did not affect noise levels. After vegetable oil use, the engine was found to have gum deposits in the combustion chamber and carbon buildup on the injection spray tip. Long-term effects of depositions resulting from burning vegetable oils are unknown.

In terms of thermal efficiency and emissions, peanut and soybean oils appear to be viable replacements for diesel fuel during steady-state operation with the standard nozzle. If power output is of prime concern, a larger nozzle may be needed for peanut oil to produce the desired results. Stability and engine wear are two concerns that must be examined before using these fuel alternatives, however.

Fishinger, et al., tested engine durability and fuel-engine compatibility in a study using a premixed blend of vegetable oil and diesel fuel.⁴⁴ They monitored a diesel school bus fueled with a 20-80 percent blend of waste vegetable oil and No. 1 diesel fuel. After 4750 miles, results on smoke emissions, fuel consumption, and engine wear were comparable to baseline diesel No. 1 values. Although clouding became a problem at lower temperatures, a toluene solvent alleviated the condition, leading to a strong recommendation for this fuel option.

The test engine was a GM, 6V-71, two-cycle, 426 CID diesel with a 127-mm (5-in.) stroke, a 108-mm (4.25-in.) bore, and a 17:1 CR. This engine powered a bus that averaged 50 miles during 8 hours of continuous running each day.

⁴³R. Forgiel and K. S. Varde, p 65.

⁴⁴M. K. Fishinger, et al., "Service Trial of Waste Vegetable Oil as a Diesel Fuel Supplement," <u>Alternate Fuels for Diesel Engines SP-503</u> (Warrendale, PA: SAE, October 1981).



ſ

Figure 26. Variation of hydrocarbon emission for different fuels. (Source: R. Forgiel and K. S. Varde, "Experimental Investigation of Vegetable Oils Utilization in a Direct Injection Diesel Engine," <u>Alternative Fuels for Diesel</u> Engines SP-503 [Warrendale, PA: SAE, 1981], p 61.)

Smoke tests revealed a slight increase in opacity for the 20-80 blend. Figure 27 shows an average reading of 0.5 units over baseline diesel values on the Bosch Smoke scale.⁴⁵ This increase is assumed to be caused by changes in injector spray atomization that accompanied the higher viscosity of the blend. This trend is also suggested by the higher smoke levels at lower temperatures.

Although many uncontrollable factors influenced the engine's fuel economy, mean results for consumption of straight diesel fuel and the 20-80 blend were approximately the same. Calculations for straight diesel averaged .584 L/km (4.03 mi/gal) and those for the 20-80 blend averaged .581 L/km (4.05 mi/gal). This agreement in mileage is most surprising in light of the different drivers, traffic, loading, and other variables.

After testing, the engine was disassembled and inspected. A carbon buildup of 1.6 mm (1/16 in.) was discovered on the engine head, piston heads, and injector tips. This accumulation was not considered excessive, considering the long idling times in the daily runs. Symmetrical firing patterns on the piston heads indicated adequate fuel passage through injector tip holes. Subsequent analysis of the injectors verified tolerable fuel hold time and pressure. Cylinders, rings, and intake ports checked out in good condition with no carbon or gum deposits.



Oil as a Diesel Fuel Supplement," <u>Alternate Fuels for Diesel</u> Engines SP 503 [Warrendale, PA: SAE, 1981], p 72.)

⁴⁵Cardis Fishinger, et al., p 72.

(

The fuel blend solidified at -6.6° C (20°F). Waxing was so extensive in the fuel filter that flow was completely blocked. Past remedies for similar problems with No. 2 diesel have included fuel heaters and additives, but in this instance, a wax solvent high in toluene cleared the blockage.

Aside from clouding in cold weather, the vegetable oil/diesel fuel blend performed admirably. Satisfactory fuel efficiency, smoke emissions, and maintenance requirements were realized without engine modification. Noxious exhaust components were not monitored, however, and should be considered before large-scale use of this fuel. Also, no information was gathered on engine knock and limiting amounts of diesel substitution with vegetable oils.

Goering, et al., investigated the combustion of hybrid blends of vegetable oil and alcohol in a diesel engine.⁴⁶ They prepared thermodynamically stable microemulsions of aqueous ethanol and soybean oil to be used for testing. The soybean oil was chosen because of its abundance and low cost; ethanol was chosen as a nonpetroleum organic solvent to reduce the oil's viscosity. Blends were developed and compared with SAE specifications for No. 2 diesel fuel, with results listed in Tables 16 and 17.⁴⁷ Both ionic and nonionic emulsions were tested in an engine with the following specifications: three-cylinder, naturally aspirated diesel with 2491 L (147.6 cu in.) displacement and rated at 26.3 kW (35.27 hp) at 2400 rpm. In addition, No. 2 diesel fuel was burned for baseline values.

Short-term performance tests showed promising results in terms of power output, thermal efficiency, and knock (Table 18).⁴⁸ Power output of the hybrid fuels came within 5 percent of the baseline fuel. The nonionic blend almost reproduced the peak power of the No. 2 diesel, despite a 6 percent decrease in injection energy. This additional power per unit energy was achieved with an increase in BTE. The hybrid fuels sustained leaner combustion (smaller equivalence ratio) because of their oxygen content (Figure 28).⁴⁹ Although the hybrids' CN of 25 was substantially lower than the SAE recommendation of 40, the audible diesel knock with the baseline fuel did not increase with the hybrid blends.

Shortcomings of the hybrid fuels included increased BSFC and poor startability. Higher fueling rates and thus increased BSFC were due to the greater viscosity and lower heating values of the hybrids over the baseline fuel. Difficulty with engine startups necessitated the use of No. 2 diesel or ether, which were problem-free remedies.

⁴⁶C. E. Goering, R. M. Campion, A. W. Schwab, and E. H. Pryde, "Evaluation of Soyoil-Ethanol Microemulsions for Diesel Engines," <u>Vegetable Oil Fuels</u>, Proceedings of the International Conference on Plant and Vegetable Oils as Fuels, Fargo, ND, 2-4 August 1982, ASAE Publ. 4-82 (ASAE, 1982), pp 279-286.
⁴⁷C. E. Goering, et al.
⁴⁸C. E. Goering, et al.
⁴⁹C. E. Goering, et al.

Table 16

Composition of the Hybrid Fuels

Fuel	Chemical	<u>न</u>	uel
Soybean oil		52.3	53.3
190-Proof ethanol	C ₂ H ₆ O	17.4	13.3
l-Butanol	CAHIO	20.5	33.4
Linoleic acid	$C_{18}H_{32}O_{2}$	6.54	0
Triethyl amine	Č6H15N ²	3.27	0

Source: C. E. Goering, et al., "Evaluation of Soyoil-Ethanol Microemulsions for Diesel Engines," <u>Vegetable Oil Fuels</u>, Proc. Int. Conf. on Plant and Vegetable Oils as Fuels, Fargo, ND, 2-4 August 1982, ASAE Publ. 4-82 (St. Joseph, MI: ASAE, 1982).

Table 17

Calculated Properties of Fuels

		Fuel	
Property	Ionic Hybrid	Nonionic Hybrid	No. 2 Diesel
Higher heating value (kJ/kg)	36687	37045	45343*
Stoichiometric A/F ratio	11.60	11.57	14.55

*Measured.

Source: C. E. Goering, et al., "Evaluation of Soyoil-Ethanol Microemulsions for Diesel Engines," <u>Vegetable Oil Fuels</u>, Proc. Int. Conf. on Plant and Vegetable Oils as Fuels, Fargo, ND, 2-4 August 1982, ASAE Publ. 4-82 (St. Joseph, MI: ASAE, 1982).

Table 18

Engine Performance at Maximum Power

Test Fuel	Max Power <u>(kW)</u>	Fuel Supplied (mg/injection)	Energy Supplied (kJ/injection)	Brake Thermal Efficiency (%)
No. 2 diesel	24.1	86.1	3.91	30.5
Ionic hybrid	22.9	101.2	3.71	32.2
Nonionic hybrid	23.7	99.9	3.70	32.3
No. 2 diesel	23.9	86.9	3.94	30.3

Source: C. E. Goering, et al., "Evaluation of Soyoil-Ethanol Microemulsions for Diesel Engines," <u>Vegetable Oil Fuels</u>, Proc. Int. Conf. on Plant and Vegetable Oils as Fuels, Fargo, ND, 2-4 August 1982, ASAE Publ. 4-82 (St. Joseph, MI: ASAE, 1982).



•

Figure 28. Diesel engine performance on diesel and hybrid fuels. (Source: C. E. Goering, et al., "Evaluation of Soyoil-Ethanol Microemulsions for Diesel Engines," <u>Vegetable Oil</u> Fuels, ASAE Publ. 4-82 [St. Joseph, MI: ASAE, 1981].)

Effects of the hybrids on engine wear and emissions were not examined but possible safety and cost deterrents were mentioned. The hybrid fuels have a flash point between 22 and 28°C (72 and 82.9°F), which is low, but the fuels could be handled with methods suitable for straight ethanol with a flashpoint at 14.4°C (58.2°F). The hybrids' prohibitive costs were a concern, costing about 200 to 225 percent of the price of No. 2 diesel at the time of the study.

Vegetable oils tested included undiluted oils and blends with diesel fuel and alcohols. Undiluted soybean and peanut oil performed very well. Soybean oil produced the same power output as diesel fuel with similar BTE and knock and fewer emissions. Peanut oil could produce only 90 percent of baseline power output, but its efficiency equaled or surpassed diesel values; moreover, smoke emissions, nitrous oxides, and hydrocarbons were generally less than for diesel fuel. Peanut oil combustion did not increase noise production over diesel levels. Although these fuels' performance was excellent during warmrun, steady-state conditions, startup, cold, and long running conditions may present a problem. Startability with neat vegetable oils was not monitored, but other experiments have suggested that starting may be difficult. Hence, present systems may need to be retrofitted for a diesel or ether-assisted start. In addition, vegetable oils' high solidification temperatures may prevent cold-weather runs, and engine deposits may obstruct long-term operation.

The vegetable bil/diesel blend was the only fuel reviewed in a long-term field experiment, and results were encouraging. Apparently, normal operation was achieved in terms of power output and fuel economy in nearly 5000 miles. No retrofitting was done, but no knock or engine wear problems were reported. Smoke was the only emission monitored; only a slight increase in exhaust smoke opacity was detected.

The soy oil/ethanol blend performance was also acceptable, with engine noise no more intense than standard diesel knock. Power output was within 5 percent of the diesel level and thermal efficiency was comparable. On the negative side, faster fueling rates led to a BSFC greater than diesel's, and initial startup required a diesel or ether assist. Information on emissions and engine wear was not reported; also, the low flash point of this blend was noted as a possible safety hazard.

Table 8 summarizes experimental results from the vegetable oil fuels.

REFERENCES

Cheremisinotf, N. P. Casobol for Energy Production (Ann Arbor Science, 1979).

- Corps of Engineers Energy Program, Engineer Regulation 11-1-10 (Department of the Army, 15 April 1982).
- Dunlay, J. B., et al., Economic and Technological Assessment of Diesel Engines Using Coal-Based Fuels for Electric Power Generation, NTIS TE4234-37-80 (U.S. Department of Energy, September 1979).
- Dunlay, J. B., et al., Performance Tests of a Slow Speed, Two-Stroke Diesel Engine Using Coal-Based Fuels, NTIS TE7905-267-80, Contract No. EF-77-C-01-2647 (U.S. Department of Energy, June 1980).
- Fishinger, M. K., et al., "Service Trial of Waste Vegetable Oil as a Diesel Fuel Supplement," <u>Alternate Fuels for Diesel Engines SP-503</u> (Warrendale, PA: Society of Automotive Engineers [SAE], October 1981).
- Forgiel, R. and K. S. Varde, "Experimental Investigation of Vegetable Oils Utilization in a Direct Injection Diesel Engine," <u>Alternate Fuels for</u> Diesel Engines SP-503 (Warrendale, PA: SAE, 1981), pp 59-66.
- Goering, C. E., R. M. Campion, A. W. Schawb, and E. H. Pryde, "Evaluation of Soyoil-Ethanol Microemulsions for Diesel Engines," <u>Vegetable Oil Fuels</u>, Proceedings of the International Conference on Plant and Vegetable Oils as Fuels, Fargo, ND, 2-4 August 1982, ASAE Publ. 4-82 (American Society of Agricultural Engineers [ASAE], 1982), pp 279-286.
- Goering, C. E., et al., "Fuel Properties of Eleven Vegetable Oils," <u>Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers (ASAE)</u>, Vol 25, No. 6 (1982), p 1473.
- Gross, W. B., Cetane Rating Log Sheets from Workshop Engine Div. of Dressler Industries, Waukesha, WI (1980).
- Hardenberg, H. O., and E. R. Ehnert, "Ignition Quality Determination Problems with Alternate Fuels for Compression Ignition Engines," <u>Alternate Fuels</u> for Diesel Engines SP-503 (Warrendale, PA: SAE, 1981), pp 51-57.
- Heisey, J. B., and S. S. Lestz, "Aqueous Alcohol Fumigation of a Single-Cylinder DI Diesel Engine," <u>Alternate Fuels for Diesel Engines SP-503</u> (Tulsa, OK: SAE, 1981), pp 1-14.
- Krawetz, G. A., Test Report No. 01215 2-4 from Phoenix Chemical Lab., Inc., Chicago, IL (1980).
- Marshal, H. P., et al., "Performance of a Diesel Engine Operating on Raw Coal-Diesel Fuel Slurries," Alternate Fuels SP-480 (SAE, 1981), pp 59-70.
- Miller, G. L., and J. L. Smith, "Using Butanol Fuel Blends," ASAE paper 80-15 24, presented at ASAE Winter Meeting, 2-5 December 1980 (St. Joseph, MI: ASAE, 1980).

Ohert, E. F., The Internal Combustion Engine and Air Pollution, 3rd ed. (Harper and Row, 1973).

ſ

Ę

- Schaefer, A. J., and H. O. Hardenberg, "Ignition Improvers for Ethanol Fuels," <u>Alternate Fuels SP-480</u> (Warrendale, PA: SAE, 1981), pp 9-20.
- Shirvani, H., <u>Alternate Fuels for Diesel Engines</u>, unpublished master's thesis (University of Illinois, 1982), p 25.
- Shirvani, H., C. E. Goering, and S. C. Sorenson, <u>Performance of Alcohol Blends</u> in <u>Diesel Engines</u>, SAE Paper 810681 (Warrendale, PA: SAE, 1981).

CERL DITTRIBUTION

a a serie a se

. . . .

Thief of Eiglneers ATTN: Tech Monttor DAEN-ASI-L (2) ATTNE ATTN : 1478-000 A CTNE A TTNE DAEN-CH DAEN-CHE ATTN: DAEN-CWM-R ATTNE DAEN~CWO AITN AITN AUN-DUP AFN-" ALTH 132 5-51 ATTN: A N VITNE AFN-308 1.000 TARNE TR A.77.5 AFN-RO ATTN AUN-ROC ATTN: DAEN-ROM ACTN: DAEN-RM ATTN: DAEN-ZCZ ATTN DAEN-775 ATTN: DAEN-ZCI ATTN: DAEN-2.0M РобА, AITN: 115 гру 22060 АЛТА ОРГ 111 - 2406 Arna Cultaner Districts ADTN: Cibrary (+1) 3 Arms Page Her Divisions ATTN: "Ibrary (14) - Army Turope AdAFS=0005 Engr 09403 13AE 19531 V Corps ATTN: DEH (11) FUL Corps ATTN: DEH (15) 21st Support Command ATTN: DEH (12) CSA Berlin ALTN: DEH (11) SASETAF ATTN: DEH (10) Allied Command Europe (ACE) ATTN: DEH (3) Sth. ISA, Horea (19) ээк CO TymbEned Forceн Command 96301 ATTN: E"SA-HHC-OFC/Engr (SA Tapan (MSARJ) ATTN: LIEN-FE 96343 ATTN: DEH-Honshu 96343 ATTN: DEH-Honshu 96343 Area Engineer, AEDC-Area Office Arnoid Air Force Station, TN 37389 +16th Engineer Command 60623 ATTN: Facilities Engineer 35 Military Academy 10966 ATTN: Pacilities Engineer ATTN: Dept of Jeography & Dept of Jeography & Computer Science ACTN. OSCPER/MAEN-A AMMRC, ATTN: DRXMR-WE 02172 SA APROSM 61299 ATTY DRCIS-RI-I ATTY: ORNAR-IS DARCOM - Dir., Inst., 5 Svcs, ATTN: DER (23) DLA ATTN: DLA-41 22314 DIA ARTNI NADS 19305 FORSTON HORSCOM Engineer, ATTN: AFEN-DEH ATTN: DEH (23) HSC AITN: HSLO-P 78234 AITN: HSLO-P 78234 AITN: Facilities Engineer Pitzsimons AMC 80240 Walter Reed AMC 20012

·. · · ·

1.45

1980 M = Ch, Instl. Div. ATTN: Facilities Engineer (3) мры ATTN: DER (3) MINC ACTN: MTMC-SA 20315 ATTN: Facilities Engineer (3) NARADCOM, ATTS: DRUNA-F 01'50 TARCOM, Fac. 01v. 45090 TRADOC HQ, TRAD/W, ATTN: ATEN-DEH ATTN: DEH (19) TSARCOM, ATTN: STSAS-F 53120 USACC ATTN: Facilities Engineer (2) JESTCOM ATTN: DEH Fort Shafter 96858 ATTN: APEN-IM SHAPE 09055 ATTN: Survivability Section, CCB-OPS Infrastructure Branch, LANDA HQ USEUCOM 09128 ATTN: ECJ 4/7-LOE Fort Beivoir, VA 22060 (7) ATTN: Canadian Liaison Officer ATTN: Water Resources Support Center ATTN: Engr Studies Center ATTN: Engr Topographic Lab ATTN: ATZA-DTE-SU ATTN: ATZA-DTE-EM ATTN: R&D Command CRREL, ATTN: Library 03755 WES, ATTN: Library 39180 HQ, XVIII Airborne Corps and Ft. Bragg 28307 ATTN: AFZA-FE-EE Chanute AFB, IL 61868 3345 CES/DE, Stop 27 Norton AFB CA 92409 ATTN: AFRCE-MX/DEE Tyndall AFB, FL 32403 APESC/Engineering & Service Lab NAPAC ATTN: RDT&E Lisison Office (6) ATTN: Sr. Tech. FAC-03T 22332 ATTN: Asst. CDR R&D, FAC-03 22332 NCEL 93041 ATTN: Library (Code L08A) Defense Technical Info. Center 22314 ATTN: DDA (12) Engineering Societies Library New York, MY 10017 National Guard Bureau 20319 Installation Division US Government Printing Office 22304 Receiving Section/Depository Copies (2) US Army Env. Hygiene Agency ATTN: MSHB-E 21710 National Bureau of Standards 20260 Anna And Issued and a second classe atoms For Belvice LASSE

> 171 1814 -

· . .

1

E

Sliwinski, Ben J. Diesel fuel alternatives for medium-speed engines in divil works prime movers / by B. J. Sliwinski, E. Cordoran. - Champaign, Ill : Construction Engineering Research Laboratory ; available from NTIS, 1984. b9 pp. (Interim report / Construction Engineering Research Laboratory ; E-200)

đ

•

•

1

L. Diesel fuels. L. Corcoran, E. (L. Title, HIL. Series: Interim report (Construction Engineering Research Laboratory); E-200.

END

7

FILMED

2-85

DTIC

